IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Supreme Court Docket No. 2009-CA-01904

EDWARD L. MONTEDONICO, TRUSTEE FOR THE BANKRUPTCY ESTATE OF MICHAEL JEFFERIES

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

v.

MT. GILLION BAPTIST CHURCH

DEFENDANT-APPELLEE

Appeal from the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial District of Panola County, Mississippi at Batesville, Mississippi

Civil Action Number: CV2008-316MP2

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT EDWARD L. MONTEDONICO, TRUSTEE FOR THE BANKRUPTCY ESTATE OF MICHAEL JEFFERIES

Oral Argument is Requested

D. REID WAMBLE (MS Attorney for Edward L. Montedonico Trustee for the Bankruptcy Estate of Michael Jefferies

II.	Statement of the Case	
	A. B. C.	The Nature of the Case 2 The Course of the Proceedings 3 Disposition in the Court below 4
III.	Statem	ent of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review
	А. В.	Introductory Facts
IV.	Summ	ary of the Argument
V.	Argun	nent
	A.	Standard for Summary Judgment
	В.	Issue Presented for Review:
	Issue I	The Trial Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment Because the Trial Court Erred in Applying the Law to the Particular Facts of this Case
VI.	Concl	usion
Certifi	icate of	Service
Certif	icate of	Mailing
		* * * * *

TABLE OF CASES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES

Cases: Page(s):
American Legion Ladnier Post No. 42, Inc. v. City of Ocean Springs,562 So.2d 103 (Miss. 1990)13
Bailey v. Wheatley Estates Corporation, No. 2001-CP-01303-COA, 829 So.2d 1278 (Miss. App. 2002)
Coho Resources, Inc. v. McCarthy, No. 97-CA-01447-SCT, 829 So.2d 1 (Miss. 2002)
Dalton v. Cellular South, Inc., No. 2007-CT-00750-SCT, 20 So.3d 1227 (Miss. 2009)
Daniels v. GNB, Inc., 629 So.2d 595 (Miss. 1993) 15,16
Evan Johnson & Sons Const., Inc. v. State, No. 2001-CA-01675-SCT, 877 So.2d 360 (Miss. 2004, reh. den. 2004)13
Grammar v. Dollar, No. 2004-CA-01376-COA, 911 So.2d 619 (Miss. App. 2005)
Great Southern National Bank v. Minter, 590 So.2d 129 (Miss. 1991)15
Ingalls Shipbuilding Corp. v. McDougald, 228 So.2d 365 (Miss. 1969)
Jackson Ready-Mix Concrete v. Sexton, 235 So.2d 267 (Miss. 1970) vii, 1, 11, 12, 20, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 29, 30
Kilhullen v. Kansas City Southern Ry., No. 2006-CT-01564-SCT, 8 So.3d 168 (Miss. 2009)
Mississippi Power Co. v. Brooks, 309 So.2d 863 (Miss. 1975)
Monsanto Co. v. Hall, No. 2004-IA-00918-SCT, 912 So.2d 134 (Miss. 2005) 12
Nofsinger v. Irby, No. 2006-CA-01344-COA, 961 So.2d 778 (Miss. 2007) vii, 1, 5, 11, 12, 20, 22, 23, 27, 28, 29, 30
Palmer v. Anderson Infirmary Benevolent Association, 656 So.2d 790 (Miss. 1995)

Simpson v. Boyd, No. 2003-CA-00425-SCT, 880 So.2d 1047 (Miss. 2004) 13, 14
<i>Tharp v. Bunge Corporation</i> , 641 So.2d 20 (Miss. 1994) 11, 17, 19, 32
<i>Vu v. Clayton</i> , No. 96-CT-00408-SCT, 765 So.2d 1253 (Miss. 2000) vii, 1, 5, 11, 12, 20, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27
Wright v. Quesnel, No. 2002-CA-00385-SCT, 876 So.2d 362 (Miss. 2004)
Yowell v. James Harkins Builder, Inc., 654 So.2d 1340 (Miss. 1994)
* * *
Other Authorities: Page(s):
MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION OF 1890:
Art. 3, Sec. 31
Mississippi Code of 1972, Annotated:
Section 11-7-15
Section 11-7-17
Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure:
Rule 56

. .

- - ----

ļ

* * *

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT:

Oral Argument Is Requested

Oral argument is requested because the trial court, in granting summary judgment in favor of Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion Missionary Baptist Church, Inc., relied upon three cases (to-wit: *Jackson Ready-Mix Concrete v. Sexton*, 235 So.2d 267 (Miss. 1970); *Vu v. Clayton*, No. 96-CT-00408-SCT, 765 So.2d 1253 (Miss. 2000); and, *Nofsinger v. Irby*, No. 2006-CA-01344-COA, 961 So.2d 778 (Miss. 2007)) which appear to be similar to the factual scenario presented by this appeal, but, in actuality, the specific facts of this case are different and unique from those cases, and the Plaintiff-Appellant believes oral argument will greatly assist this Court in applying previously well-settled case law to the facts presented in this case.

* * * * * *

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue I: The Trial Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment Because the Trial Court Erred in Applying the Law to the Particular Facts of this Case.

In granting summary judgment in favor of Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion Missionary Baptist Church, Inc. ("Mt. Gillion"), the trial court stated that "after a review of the facts" it found the factual scenario presented in the case *sub judice* was similar to the factual scenarios presented in *Jackson Ready-Mix Concrete v. Sexton*, 235 So.2d 267 (Miss. 1970), in *Vu v. Clayton*, No. 96-CT-00408-SCT, 765 So.2d 1253 (Miss. 2000), and "more specifically" in *Nofsinger v. Irby*, No. 2006-CA-01344-COA, 961 So.2d 778 (Miss. 2007). However, the trial court failed to address these facts: the ladder was missing a rubber safety grip made the ladder defective and unsafe; the ladder was provided to Michael Jefferies by Mt. Gillion; Michael Jefferies was unaware of that the ladder was missing a rubber safety grip; and, because the ladder was missing a rubber safety grip, the ladder slipped and fell while Michael Jefferies was on the ladder. The aforesaid facts, which are uncontested and uncontradicted, distinguish this civil action from the decisions in *Jackson Ready-Mix, Vu*, and *Nofsinger* which the trial court relied upon.

Therefore, the decision of the trial court should be reversed and this case should be remanded for a jury trial of the disputed fact issues, including whether Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion was negligent in providing a defective ladder to Michael Jefferies and the apportionment of fault between Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion and Michael Jefferies.

* * * * * *

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Nature of the Case¹

This is a civil action to collect damages for personal injuries which were sustained by Michael Jefferies (who may hereinafter be referred to as "Jefferies). The Plaintiff-Appellant in this civil action and appeal is Ed Montedonico, the Chapter 7 Trustee of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Tennessee at Memphis for the Bankruptcy Estate of Michael Jefferies, Bankruptcy Docket Number 06-29747.² [CP, 12.] Michael Jefferies ("Jefferies"), who is a citizen of Shelby County, Tennessee, suffered physical injuries on August 19, 2006, on the property of Mt. Gillion Missionary Baptist Church, Inc., at Batesville in Panola County, Mississippi (which may be referred to herein simply as "Mt. Gillion").³ [CP, 13, 50] The Plaintiff-Appellant alleges in the Plaintiff's *First Amended Complaint* that Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion provided a ladder for Michael Jefferies to use as Jefferies installed a security system in the church gym, that the ladder was

¹The official record in this civil action is comprised of the clerk's papers and the transcript from the summary judgment hearing conducted in the trial court. For purposes of this brief, the clerk's papers (or record) will be referred to as "CP" followed by the appropriate page number, the Plaintiff-Appellant's record excerpts (as required by Rule 30 of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure) will be referred to as "RE" followed by the appropriate page number, and reference to the transcript of the summary judgment hearing will be cited as "T" followed by the appropriate page number.

²Plaintiff Ed Montedonico, the Chapter 7 Trustee of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Tennessee at Memphis for the Bankruptcy Estate of Michael Jefferies, Bankruptcy Docket Number 06-29747, commenced this civil action pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 541 and pursuant to Rule 6009 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure.

³According to the *Affidavit of George Fondren*, the property known as and called "Mt. Gillion Baptist Church" is "owned by a corporation called Mt. Gillion Baptist Church, Inc." [CP, 50] Documents on file with the Mississippi Secretary of State's Office indicate that George Fondren is the registered agent for Mt. Gillion Baptist Church, Inc.

defective because a rubber safety shoe or rubber grip on the bottom of the ladder was missing, that the ladder slipped while Jefferies was on the ladder causing the ladder to fall with Jefferies on it, and that Jefferies sustained physical injuries in the fall of the defective ladder.⁴ [CP, 13-14.] The Plaintiff-Appellant is seeking to recover damages from Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion for the physical injuries sustained by Michael Jefferies.

* * *

B. The Course of the Proceedings

This civil action commenced with the filing of the Plaintiff's original *Complaint* on September 19, 2008. [CP, 5.] Subsequently, the Plaintiff filed a *First Amended Complaint* on November 18, 2008. [CP, 12.]

Defendant Mt. Gillion Missionary Baptist Church, Inc., filed its Answer to First Amended Complaint denying liability on or about December 15, 2008. [CP, 19] Thereafter, Defendant Mt. Gillion filed a motion for summary judgment on August 5, 2009. [CP, 24]

The Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and the Plaintiff's Memorandum of Authorities in Support of Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment were filed on November 5, 2009. [CP, 59, 80]

The trial court conducted a hearing on Mt. Gillion's motion for summary judgment on November 6, 2009. [T, 1]

The trial court entered its Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on November 10, 2009. [CP, 117]

The Plaintiff filed the Notice of Appeal herein on November 24, 2009. [CP, 118]

⁴See First Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 4-9.

* * *

C. Disposition in the Court below

The trial court entered its Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on November 10, 2009, which granted "Summary Judgment as to all issues in this case" in favor of Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion Missionary Baptist Church, Inc., and which dismissed the Plaintiff's case with prejudice. [CP, 117; T, 10-12]

* * * * * *

III.

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Introduction

The Plaintiff's *First Amended Complaint* alleges that Michael Jefferies sustained bodily injuries when a ladder which he was using while in the process of installing a security system slipped and fell to the floor because the ladder was missing one of the rubber safety shoes or rubber grips on the bottom of the ladder.⁵ [CP, 12-18] The ladder in question had been provided for the use of Michael Jefferies by Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion Missionary

⁵See *First Amended Complaint* at ¶¶ 7-8. [CP, 12-18] The manner in which the accident occurred was fully explained during the hearing on the motion for summary judgment, to-wit:

Throughout [Defendant Mt. Gillion's] brief they misstate the fact that Mr. Jefferies fell off of the ladder. He did not fall off of a ladder, Your Honor. He held onto it all the way down. He was about 20 feet up in the air. The rubber grip on the bottom of the ladder was missing that he had not discovered, even though he had been using the ladder. ... The ladder slid down the wall because there was no rubber grip on the bottom. He held onto the ladder all the way down, and he fell on his elbow and shattered his elbow.

Baptist Church, Inc. Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion brought a motion for summary judgment in which Mt. Gillion argued that because Michael Jefferies was an independent contractor and because "falling off a ladder is a risk inherent to or intimately connected" with Michael Jefferies' job that "there can be no liability in this matter."⁶ [CP, 24-25] Mt. Gillion also argued that "the plaintiff cannot show any negligence on the part of Mt. Gillion" and, therefore, argued that the Plaintiff's civil action should be dismissed.⁷ [CP, 25]

Even though the ladder which Michael Jefferies was using had been provided to him by Mt. Gillion, and even though the evidence demonstrated at least a question of fact that the ladder was defective and unsafe, the trial court, specifically citing *Vu v. Clayton*, No. 96-CT-00408-SCT, 765 So.2d 1253 (Miss. 2000), and *Nofsinger v. Irby*, No. 2006-CA-01344-COA, 961 So.2d 778 (Miss. 2007), held that "there has been no duty owed or breached" by Mt. Gillion and granted summary judgment in favor of Mt. Gillion. [CP, 117; T, 12]

The Plaintiff-Appellant asserts to this Court that the trial court, in granting summary judgment in favor of Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion, misapprehended the law and misapplied the law to the specific facts of this case, and, therefore, the trial court's order granting summary judgment should be reversed and this case should be remanded for a jury trial.

* * *

⁶See Defendant's Itemization of Material Undisputed Facts and Motion for Summary Judgment at ¶ II. [CP, 24-25]

⁷See Defendant's Itemization of Material Undisputed Facts and Motion for Summary Judgment at ¶ II. [CP, 25]

B. Facts Relevant to the Issue Presented for Review

The facts of this civil action are straight forward. Michael Jefferies worked for Eagle Security.⁸ [CP, 101] Jefferies went to the premises of Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion Missionary Baptist Church, Inc., to replace a security system in the main church and to install a security system in the church's gymnasium.⁹ [CP. 111] Initially, Jefferies had turned this job down because "I was told that I was going to need an extension ladder" but Jefferies "did not have an extension ladder" and Jefferies "didn't want to go out and have to buy an extension ladder for this one job and I didn't have a way to carry it."¹⁰ [CP, 111] Jefferies agreed to accept the assignment after he was told "that they would have a ladder down there for me to use."¹¹ [CP, 112]

Jefferies arrived at the church, upgraded the security system in the main church (during which Jefferies used his own A-frame ladder), and then took a break for lunch.¹² [CP, 112] After lunch, Jefferies began the installation of the security system in the gymnasium.¹³

⁹Jefferies, p. 63 [CP, 111].

¹⁰Jefferies, p. 65 [CP, 111]. Jefferies also testified that he used a Ford Expedition as his work vehicle, and that it was not equipped with a ladder rack. Notably, Jefferies has testified that none of the other installers for Eagle Security had extension ladders, either. This fact appears to refute a claim made by Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion that use of an extension ladder was occasionally required by Jefferies' job. See Jefferies, p. 65.

¹¹Jefferies, p. 66 [CP, 112].
 ¹²Jefferies, p. 66-67, 68 [CP, 112].
 ¹³Jefferies, p. 67 [CP, 112].

⁸See the transcript of the *Deposition of Michael Brian Jefferies* at p. 25 [CP. 101]. The transcript of Michael Jefferies' deposition may hereinafter be cited as "*Jefferies*" followed by the appropriate page number of the transcript. The complete deposition transcript appears in the record at CP 95-116.

[CP, 112] Jefferies found "the extension ladder was laying in the floor there waiting for me" when he started the installation in the gymnasium.¹⁴ [CP, 112] Jefferies testified:

- Q. Okay. So, you see the ladder lying there and what did it look like?
- A. It actually looked just like a ladder I had used before. It was about an 18 foot ladder, green, I believe, fiberglass ladder.
- Q. Okay.
- A. And I had one very similar to it a couple of years before back when I did satellite TV's.
- Q. And so before you used the ladder for the first time did you look at it?
- A. Of course, I had to look at it.
- Q. Did you examine it to see if it would be suitable for the job?
- A. I picked it up, looked at it. Everything looked fine to me. The guy even picked it up helped me pick it up like, you know, I couldn't he didn't know if I was able to do it by myself or not. But, you know, of course, I've done it before. He helped me pick it up off the floor and lean it up against the wall.
- Q. Okay. But I mean, you wouldn't have climbed on that ladder unless you inspected it and made sure you thought it was safe, correct?
- A. Right. Everything seemed to be fine with the ladder.
- Q. You didn't notice anything unusual about it?
- A. No.
- Q. Was it broken in any way?
- A. No.¹⁵

[CP, 112-113]

¹⁴Jefferies, p. 68 [CP, 112].

¹⁵Jefferies, pp. 68-70 [CP, 112-113].

Jefferies also testified:

- A. The ladder wasn't cracked or anything. It stood against it leaned against the wall. It didn't have any kind of sway in it or any play in it, you know, not about to fall apart or anything like that at all. In fact, I was almost through using the ladder. I was almost through running all the wires and I had been up on the ladder several times and the last time it was – I didn't boggle or anything. I was just walking down and that thing just went (Indicating). Just like that.
- Q. Just fell to the ground?
- A. Just like that with me still hanging onto the ladder.¹⁶

[CP, 113]

Jefferies further testified:

- Q. Why did it fall?
- A. Why did it fall?
- Q. Yeah.
- A. The reason it fell I believe is because it was missing a rubber foot that keeps it from sliding when it's on a solid surface. One of the rubber footing was slipped – I don't know what you call it, but something to keep it from slipping was missing.
- Q. You said you believe that?
- A. No. After I got up off the ground and was walking around looking for a puddle of water or maybe some sand or something trying to figure out what was going on here, and then looked at the ladder and it's missing a rubber foot.
- Q. Was there any indication that it was going to fall?
- A. Like I said, I was coming back down and it just went (Indicating).
- Q. It just fell?

¹⁶Jefferies, pp. 70-71 [CP, 113].

A. (Nodding head affirmatively). And I was almost at the top of it when it fell.¹⁷

[CP, 113]

In the accident, Jefferies suffered "a severely shattered right wrist" and other injuries which required surgery.¹⁸ [CP, 102]

The Plaintiff filed the *First Amended Complaint* on November 18, 2008.¹⁹ [CP, 12] The *First Amended Complanit* asserts that Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion negligently failed to "furnish a reasonably safe place for Michael Jefferies to work," negligently failed to warn Michael Jefferies "of the dangerous condition of the ladder," negligently failed "to warn Michael Jefferies that the ladder was missing a safety shoe or grip," negligently provided Michael Jefferies with a defective ladder which was missing a safety shoe or grip, and other elements of negligence.²⁰ [CP, 14-15]

As previously mentioned, *infra*, Defendant-Appellee Mt. Gillion argued in its motion for summary judgment that because Michael Jefferies was an independent contractor and because "falling off a ladder is a risk inherent to or intimately connected" with Jefferies' job that "there can be no liability in this matter."²¹ [CP, 24-25] Mt. Gillion also argued that "the plaintiff cannot show any negligence on the part of Mt. Gillion" and, therefore, argued that

¹⁷Jefferies, pp. 72-73 [CP, 113].

¹⁸Jefferies, p. 27 [CP, 102].

¹⁹The Plaintiff attached a true and correct copy of the *First Amended Complaint* as "Exhibit A" to the *Plaintiff's Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment*. [CP, 88]

²⁰See First Amended Complaint, at ¶ 10 [CP, 14-15].

²¹See Defendant's Itemization of Material Undisputed Facts and Motion for Summary Judgment at ¶ II. [CP, 24-25]

the Plaintiff's civil action should be dismissed.²² [CP, 25] Notably, Mt. Gillion attached to its motion for summary judgment (as "Exhibit B") the *Affidavit of George Fondren* in which it is admitted that the ladder in question was "borrowed ... from a member of the church" and was provided by the church to Michael Jefferies specifically for Jefferies to use while installing the security system in the church's gymnasium. [CP, 50-51]

Whereas Mt. Gillion argued that "the plaintiff cannot show any negligence on the part of Mt. Gillion" and, therefore, argued that the Plaintiff's civil action should be dismissed, the position of the Plaintiff-Appellant is that the ladder was defective and unsafe because it was missing a rubber safety grip and that Mt. Gillion was negligent in providing a defective and unsafe ladder to Michael Jefferies for his use.

* * * * * *

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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