#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EDWARD L. MONTEDONICO, TRUSTEE FOR THE BANKRUPTCY ESTATE OF MICHAEL JEFFRIES **APPELLANT** 

v.

Docket No. 2009-CA-01904

MT. GILLION BAPTIST CHURCH

**APPELLEE** 

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

#### Trial Judge:

Honorable James McLure, III Circuit Court Judge Circuit Court of Panola County, Mississippi

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

#### IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

When he was injured working on the Mt. Gillion gym, Michael Jeffries worked as an independent contractor. Mississippi premises liability law is clear. When a danger exists that is an inherent part of the work being performed, an owner such as Mt. Gillion owes no duty to an independent contractor. For this reason alone, the Circuit Court's grant of summary judgment should be affirmed.

Moreover, plaintiffs have produced no competent summary judgment proof that anyone associated with Mt. Gillion knew of any dangerous conditions related to the ladder provided for Mr. Jeffries's use when doing the work. Even had Mr. Jeffries been present as a business invitee and not an independent contractor, plaintiffs would be required to show actual or constructive knowledge on the part of Mt. Gillion in order to establish the existence of a duty owed.

Throughout their brief, plaintiffs allege negligence on the part of Mt. Gillion, but because as a matter of law no duty was owed by Mt. Gillion, there cannot be negligence. Plaintiffs have come forward with no proof of any duty at law.

For these reasons, and those more fully set forth below, the grant of summary judgment should be affirmed.

#### V. ARGUMENT

There exists no dispute that Mr. Jeffries possessed skill and experience using ladders.

There is no dispute that he was working for Mt. Gillion as an independent contractor. There is no evidence that any problem with the ladder existed when it was provided for his use. For these reasons and others, and pursuant to the authorities set out below, the Circuit Court correctly granted summary judgment in favor of Mt. Gillion.

Plaintiff's only factual assertion, that the ladder was defective because it lacked a rubber grip, is unsupported by any competent proof. Moreover, it does not allow plaintiff to escape the holdings of, *inter alia*, *Vu v. Clayton*, 765 So. 2d 1253 (Miss. 2000) and *Nofsinger v. Irby*, 961 So. 2d 778 (Miss. App. 2007). Even if the rubber foot was missing when Mr. Jeffries began using the ladder, Mt. Gillion is not liable for his injuries.

## A. Standard of Review and Summary Judgment Standard.

Appellate courts apply a *de novo* standard when reviewing the granting of a motion for summary judgment. *Whitaker v. Limeco*, 32 So. 3d 429, 433-34 (¶ 10) (Miss. 2010). The summary judgment standard has been articulated as follows:

In evaluating a grant of summary judgment, this Court views all evidentiary matters, including admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, admissions, and affidavits. Glover v. Jackson State Univ., 968 So.2d 1267, 1275 (Miss.2007) (citing Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c)). The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non moving party. Simpson v. Boyd, 880 So.2d 1047, 1050 (Miss.2004) (quoting Palmer v. Anderson Infirmary Benevolent Ass'n, 656 So.2d 790, 794 (Miss.1995)). The existence of a genuine issue of material fact will preclude summary judgment. Massey v. Tingle, 867 So.2d 235, 238 (Miss.2004). A fact is material if it "tends to resolve any of the issues properly raised by the parties." Simpson, 880 So.2d at 1050 (quoting Palmer, 656 So.2d at 794). The motion "should be overruled unless the trial court finds, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the plaintiff would be unable to prove any facts to support his claim." Simpson, 880 So.2d

at 1050 (quoting Palmer, 656 So.2d at 796).

Spann v. Shuqualak Lumber Co., 990 So. 2d 186, 189 (§ 6) (Miss. 2008).

The non moving party *is not*, as plaintiffs write in their brief, "always given the benefit of every doubt as to the existence of a material fact." (Brief of Appellant at 12). On the contrary, "[t]he non-moving party's claim must be supported by more than a mere scintilla of colorable evidence; it must be evidence upon which a fair-minded jury could return a favorable verdict." *Rowan v. Kia Motors America, Inc.*, 16 So. 3d 62, 66 (¶ 12) (Miss. App. 2009). The Court must draw all *reasonable* inferences in favor of the plaintiffs, *Partin v. North Miss. Med. Ctr., Inc.*, 929 So. 2d 924, 929 (¶ 16) (Miss. App. 2005), not all possible or imaginable inferences.

"To survive summary judgment, the non-moving party must offer 'significant probative evidence demonstrating the existence of a triable issue of fact." *Stanley v. Boyd Tunica, Inc.*, 29 So. 3d 95, 97 (¶ 6) (Miss. App. 2010) (citations omitted). In the instant case, plaintiffs were required to "set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." *Id.*; *see also* Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(e).

- B. The Circuit Court of Panola County Correctly Applied Mississippi Law to the Facts of the Case when Granting Summary Judgment in Favor of Mt. Gillion.
- 1. Mr. Jeffries Worked as an Independent Contractor. The Danger of the Ladder Slipping Was Inherent, and Mt. Gillion Therefore Owed Him No Duty as a Matter of Law.

"[T]he owner or occupier is under no duty to protect [independent contractors] against risks arising from or intimately connected with defects of the premises, or machinery or appliances located thereon, which the contractor has undertaken to repair. *Vu v. Clayton*, 765 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (¶ 12) (Miss. 2000) (citing *Jackson Ready-Mix Concrete v. Sexton*, 235 So. 2d 267

(Miss. 1970)). "The owner/occupier is not an insurer of the invitee's safety, and he is not liable for [conditions] which are not dangerous or which are, or should be known to the business invitee." *Id.* at 1256 (§ 13) (citing *Jones v. James Reeves Contractors, Inc.*, 701 So. 2d 774 (Miss. 1997)). "Furthermore, when a danger exists, which is inherent to the work the independent contractor is employed to perform, or which arises from or is intimately connected with the work to be performed, the employer's duty to protect the contractor is absolved." *Grammar v. Dollar*, 911 So. 2d 619, 622-623 (¶ 8) (Miss. App. 2005) (citing *Coho Resources v. McCarthy*, 829 So. 2d 1, 10-11 (¶¶ 20-21) (Miss. 2002)); *Nofsinger v. Irby*, 961 So. 2d 778, 781 (¶ 10) (Miss. App. 2007).

In the instant case, Mr. Jeffries is an experienced independent contractor with extensive experience with ladders. The risks of using a ladder to install the alarm system were "intimately connected" to the work Mr. Jeffries performed. According to Mississippi law on the duties owed by owners to independent contractors, Mt. Gillion had no duty to protect Mr. Jeffries. *Grammar*, 911 So. 2d at 622-623 (¶ 8); *Nofsinger*, 961 So. 2d at 781 (¶ 10).

Because as a matter of law Mt. Gillion owed Mr. Jeffries, an independent contractor, no duty to protect him, issues such as contributory negligence raised by the plaintiffs are never reached. As a matter of law, with no duty owed, there can be no finding of negligence on the part of Mt. Gillion. See Todd v. First Baptist Church of West Point, 993 So. 2d 827, 829 (¶ 10) (Miss. 2008) ("Duty and breach must be established first").

2. The Circuit Court's Decision was Well-Grounded in the Facts and Applicable Mississippi Law.

The Circuit Court cited two cases when rendering its ruling on the underlying motion for

summary judgment: *Vu v. Clayton*, 765 So. 2d 1253 (Miss. 2000) and *Nofsinger v. Irby*, 961 So. 2d 778 (Miss. App. 2007). (T. at 11). *Vu* was brought by an air conditioning contractor against an owner and lessee of a structure after the contractor fell through a hole in the structure's attic. *Id.* at 1254 (¶ 1). The *Vu* Court summarized the facts as follows:

Vu was hired as an independent contractor by Xuan to install an ancillary air conditioning unit in the unfinished attic. A plywood walkway led the way to the air conditioning unit which was placed on the rafters in the attic. Vu was holding and adjusting a flashlight for a co-worker when he stepped backward off the plywood walkway. He fell through an approximately 4 x 4 foot cased opening to the floor below, seriously injuring his arm. Apparently, at one time, an attic fan had been placed in the opening, but it had since been removed. At trial, both Vu and his co-worker testified that the area was dusty and that, in the dim light of the attic, the cavity of the opening, which was filled with a number of boxes, appeared to be a continuation of the plywood walkway on which Vu had been standing.

Both Clayton and Xuan denied having ever been in the attic area, which was accessible only through a small trap door. They asserted that they had no knowledge of the conditions existing in the attic. Clayton had purchased the building and rented it to Xuan approximately eight months before the accident. Clayton and Xuan further argued that there were no facts which would give rise to a finding that they should have known about this condition or otherwise charging them with constructive notice of its existence.

Id. at 1254 (¶¶ 2-3).

Regarding the duty owed by Mt. Gillion to Mr. Jeffries,

[A]n owner or operator of a business still owes a duty to an invitee to exercise reasonable or ordinary care to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition or warn of dangerous conditions not readily apparent, which owner or occupant knows of, or should know of, in the exercise of reasonable care. Jerry Lee's Grocery, Inc. v. Thompson, 528 So.2d 293 (Miss.1988). The invitee is still required to use in the interest of his own safety that degree of care and prudence which a person of ordinary intelligence would exercise under the same or similar circumstance. Tate v. Southern Jitney Jungle Co., 650 So.2d 1347, 1351 (Miss.1995).

Id. at 1255 (¶ 7) (quoting Fulton v. Robinson Indus, Inc., 664 So. 2d 170, 175 (Miss. 1995))

(emphasis added).

As in Vu, Id. at 1255 (¶ 9), there is no proof showing anyone with Mt. Gillion had actual or constructive knowledge of any allegedly dangerous condition, including the allegedly missing rubber foot from the ladder used by Mr. Jeffries.<sup>2</sup> As a result, even if plaintiffs have successfully created an issue of fact as to the alleged absence of the rubber foot – which they have not – the fact is not material unless plaintiffs also demonstrate actual or constructive knowledge of the allegedly dangerous condition on the part of Mt. Gillion.

Mr. Vu had been in the attic of the involved structure approximately ten times in two days, *Id.* at 1256 (¶ 11); Mr. Jeffries had climbed the subject ladder numerous times on the day of his fall without mishap. (R. at 113). Mr. Vu had twenty years of experience in climbing into attics, *Id.*; Mr. Jeffries testified to a lengthy and extensive history of using ladders and admitted he was not an "average person" when it came to ladders. (R. at 111-113). Mississippi law establishes that "[t]he party in the best position to eliminate a dangerous condition should be burdened with that responsibility." *Id.* (citing *Tharp v. Bunge Corp.*, 641 So. 2d 20, 25 (Miss. 1994)). Just like Mr. Vu, Mr. Jeffries was in the best position to eliminate any dangerous condition related to the ladder he used repeatedly that afternoon.

As the trial judge stated in the opinion issued from the bench, (T. at 11), the case of *Nofsinger v. Irby*, 961 So. 2d 778 (Miss. App. 2007), is even more on point. Without rehashing the law set forth above, *Nofsinger* involved a contractor who utilized the owner's table saw. A

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>As will be discussed more fully below, Mt. Gillion concedes for purposes of the instant appeal only that Mr. Jeffries' testimony establishes that after his fall the rubber foot was missing. However, there is no proof on the record that the foot was missing prior to the fall, or more importantly that the missing foot caused the fall.

wood chip flew from the saw and struck the contractor in the eye, resulting in impaired vision.

Id. at 778 ( $\P$  1). The Nofsinger Court summarized the facts before it as follows:

In May 2003, Joe Irby hired his neighbor, Jack Nofsinger, to help him form a driveway at a rental duplex Irby was building. Nofsinger is an experienced carpenter and construction worker with over twenty-five years of experience, and by his own admission often gave Irby pointers regarding home improvement projects. Irby had hired Nofsinger to perform trim work on his rental properties on at least two prior occasions. On the previous two occasions, Irby paid Nofsinger by the job and neither withheld taxes from Nofsinger's payment nor provided Nofsinger with a W-2 form.

On May 29, 2003, while helping Irby construct the driveway form, Nofsinger went into the duplex garage and retrieved Irby's table saw. While Nofsinger was cutting stakes for the driveway form, a wood chip was propelled from the saw blade and struck him in the left eye causing permanent blindness in the eye. Irby's table saw did not have the proper safety guard over the blade and Nofsinger was using the saw without wearing safety goggles. Nofsinger acknowledged during the summary judgment hearing that he was aware of the danger of using a table saw without a safety guard and goggles, and admitted to doing so on numerous occasions in the past. He also testified to operating similar table saws "a couple of thousand times," and that if he had been wearing goggles, the wood chip would not have struck him in the eye.

Id. at 779 (¶¶ 3-4). Based on the foregoing facts, the Mississippi Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court's grant of summary judgment based on the same grounds as urged by the Vu defendant and by Mt. Gillion Baptist Church in the instant appeal. The *Nofsinger* Court wrote as follows:

The facts in the record, viewed in the light most favorable to Nofsinger, do not support his position that Irby breached a duty of care by not placing a safety guard over the saw blade, by not warning him of the absence of the safety guard, nor by not properly instructing him on how to use the saw. The undisputed facts in the record are that Nofsinger has worked in the carpentry and construction industry for more than twenty-five years. Nofsinger has superior knowledge in the industry than that possessed by Irby. Further, Nofsinger has used table saws similar to the one at issue here and without goggles or a safety guard "thousands of times," and Nofsinger admitted that he appreciated the danger of doing so. Therefore, whether Nofsinger was an

independent contractor, an employee, or an invitee is of no moment to the ultimate decision on the issue of summary judgment. Under the appropriate analysis for either of the three statuses claimed, Nofsinger appreciated or should have appreciated the risks associated with using the table saw without the appropriate safety equipment and his assumption of that risk absolves Irby of the liability claimed. Nofsinger has failed to produce any evidence demonstrating that Irby breached any duty owed to him, and, therefore, summary judgment is affirmed.

*Id.* at 782-783 (¶ 13).

Once again, the facts are incredibly similar to the case *sub judice*. Mr. Nofsinger testified to years of experience using the tool that injured him. Like Mr. Jeffries, Mr. Nofsinger alleged that the owner failed to warn him. Just as in *Nofsinger*, summary judgment in the instant case was and is appropriate because plaintiffs fail to establish that Mt. Gillion owed any duty to Mr. Jeffries.

3. Even if Mr. Jeffries Had Been an Invitee, Plaintiffs Produced No Evidence that Mt. Gillion Knew of Any Allegedly Dangerous Condition.

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